STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Sep 25 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable W. Greg Seigler, Family Court Judge
Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NAZARETH N SANCHEZ-PERALTA,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001588

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

PART 1 - JUVENILE PROCEEDINGS.

I.

Did the family court err in failing to find S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210 was unconstitutional due to its improper reliance on the eight factors set forth in *Kent v. United States*¹ in violation of the due process protections of United States and South Carolina constitutions?

II.

Did the family court err in finding the right to confront witnesses did not apply in transfer hearings despite the fundamental impact of its ability to transfer a juvenile only after a full investigation in contravention to the Confrontation Clause contained in both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, as well as fundamental procedural due process rights of the minor?

¹ 383 U.S. 541 (1966)

PART 2 – APPELLANT’S CRIMINAL TRIAL.

III.

Did the trial court err in admitting the statements of appellant made over the course of two days of interrogation by law enforcement in which appellant was visibly suffering from the impact of a physical assault, was isolated from her parents, not informed of her right to remain silent or right to have counsel, and subjected to coercive interrogation techniques in violation of the Due Process clause of the fourteenth amendment, the sixth amendment right to counsel, and the fifth amendment protection against self-incrimination?

IV.

Did the trial court commit an error of law by failing to conduct a Rule 404, SCRE, analysis on sexually explicit messages from appellant to her abusive domestic partner, Treveon Nelson, as the messages were improper character evidence and the probative value, if any, was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE?

V.

Did the trial court err in finding the testimony that appellant was assaulted by Treveon Nelson and threatened with a handgun a month before the murder of SA did not fall within the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule?

PART 3 - APPELLANT'S SENTENCE.

VI.

Does sentencing a sixteen-year-old juvenile in South Carolina to a functionally equivalent life without parole period of sixty-five years in prison violate Article I, Section 15, of the South Carolina Constitution prohibition against cruel or unusual or corporal punishment?

VII.

Did the trial court's sentence of appellant, which provided only a cursory reference to the factors outline in Aiken v. Byars², comply with the requirement that a sentencing court consider the impact of youth and its accompanying mitigating factors in reaching a sentence that exceeded the sentence of the older, more culpable defendants charged with the same crime?

² 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged by a Lexington County Grand Jury on April 29, 2021, with kidnapping in the disappearance of a minor [SA] from Richland County with an additional charge for murder following on April 30, 2021. R. 2679. Since appellant was a minor, the state petitioned the Lexington County Family Court for a transfer of jurisdiction to the Court of General Sessions. A hearing was held from May 2, 2022, through May 6, 2022, before the Honorable W. Greg Seigler. Rick Hubbard and Suzanne Mayes appeared on behalf of the state with Kathy McGrady, Hali Sellert, Robert Madison, and Jason Chehoski appearing on behalf of appellant. R. 1. By written order, Judge Seigler transferred the matter to General Sessions. R. 1080.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin and a jury from May 15 – 23, 2023. Rick Hubbard and Suzanne Mayes continued behalf of the state with Sarah Mauldin, David Mauldin, and Hali Sellert appearing on behalf of appellant. R. 1133. The jury returned a guilty verdict on all charges. A sentencing hearing was held on August 28, 2023, at which time Judge McCaslin sentenced appellant's two co-defendants who have pled guilty related to the murder charges and conducted a hearing on appellant's sentenced pursuant to Aiken v. Byers.³ At the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, Judge McCaslin sentenced appellant to sixty-five years for the murder conviction and vacating the kidnapping conviction. R. 2624, l. 22 – 2625, l. 10. Following a motion to reconsider filed by appellant, a hearing was held on September 28, 2023. R. 2640. The motion to reconsider was denied.

This appeal follows.

³ 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014).

ARGUMENT PART I – JUVENILE PROCEEDINGS

I.

The family court erred in failing to find S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210 was unconstitutional due to its improper reliance on the eight factors set forth in *Kent v. United States*⁴ in violation of the due process protections of United States and South Carolina constitutions.

A. How the matter was addressed below.

Prior to the transfer hearing, counsel for appellant filed motion challenging the constitutionality of the proceeding on several grounds. By agreement of all parties, the matter was submitted on written briefs, with appellant filing an extensive objection raising several Constitutional concerns. At that start of the hearing, the Honorable Greg Seigler acknowledged the filings, and asked both parties if any additional material was to be argued. R. 12, ll. 2 – 24; R. 1031. The reliance on the now outdated Kent factors as a violation of due process was one of those grounds. R. 1031.

B. Discussion.

The Family Court has exclusive jurisdiction over cases involving children accused of criminal activity. S.C. Code Ann. § 20-7-400(A)(l)(d); *see also State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 558, 647 S.E.2d 144, 160 (2007). However, S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210 (2019) (hereinafter the transfer statute), allows the Family Court discretion to transfer jurisdiction over a child's criminal proceeding to the Court of General Sessions if the child is accused of certain serious offenses. The transfer statute allows such transfer “after full investigation” and consideration of the if retaining jurisdiction in Family Court is in the “best interest of the child or of the public.”

⁴ 383 U.S. 541 (1966)

S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210(4). The legislation lacks a clear picture about what this “full investigation” resembles. To fill the statutory void, the South Carolina Supreme Court instructed Family Court judges to apply the eight factors set forth in the Supreme Court's (then) seminal decision in Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541 (1966); *see also* Pittman, 373 S.C. at 588, 647 S.E.2d at 160.

Under South Carolina law, the Family Court must consider the Kent factors of:

- (1) The seriousness of the alleged offense.
- (2) Whether the alleged offense was committed in an aggressive, violent, premeditated, or willful manner.
- (3) Whether the alleged offense was against persons or against property, greater weight being given to offenses against persons especially if personal injury resulted.
- (4) The prosecutive merit of the complaint.
- (5) The desirability of trial and disposition of the entire offense in one court.
- (6) The sophistication and maturity of the juvenile as determined by consideration of his home, environmental situation, emotional attitude and pattern of living.
- (7) The record and previous history of the juvenile, including previous contacts with law enforcement agencies, juvenile courts and other jurisdictions, prior periods of probation, or prior commitments to juvenile institutions.
- (8) The prospects for adequate protection of the public and the likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation of the juvenile (if he is found to have committed the alleged offense) by the use of procedures, services and facilities currently available.

Pittman, 373 S.C. at 559, 647 S.E.2d at 160. In the present case, the Family Court order dutifully sets for a factual finding for each factor. R. 1080.

A review of those findings clearly demonstrates the dangers of continued reliance on the Kent factors in juvenile waiver hearings. The first five factors focus exclusively on the criminal event. While the sixth factor does encourage a consideration of the maturity level of a juvenile, it is undercut by the “record and previous history” requirement of the seventh factor. Finally, while the eight factors do incorporate prospects of rehabilitation, a component appellant

acknowledges as crucial, it adds a balance of “protection of the public” that, again, changes focus onto the severity of the crime charged. In short, the Kent factors, absent blatant overreach by the state, guarantee a transfer upon request for any serious crime.

The continued use of the Kent factors, as applied in transfer hearings, is Constitutionally invalid. The South Carolina transfer statute, as interpreted by our Supreme Court, should no longer be applied to any child, no matter how serious his or her alleged offense, because the transfer process violates the due process protections of the South Carolina and United States Constitutions. The transfer process fails to protect children’s procedural due process rights by not fully accounting for their constitutional status. Due to continued adherence to the Kent factors that focuses the Family Court’s decision to rely almost exclusively on the severity of the crime rather than their status as a minor offender, the transfer statute lacks the procedural safeguards required by due process, including confrontation of witnesses, as noted in Argument II, *infra*.

These constitutional infirmities stem from the acknowledged legal distinction between children and adults. In Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the United States Supreme Court held that juvenile offenders under the age of 18 are protected from capital punishment because of class-wide traits that categorically diminish their culpability.

The United States Supreme Court noted:

Three general differences between juveniles under 18 and adults demonstrate that juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders. First, as any parent knows and as the scientific and sociological studies respondent and his amici cite tend to confirm, “[a] lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility are found in youth more often than in adults and are more understandable among the young.

These qualities often result in impetuous and ill-considered actions and decisions.’ Johnson, *supra*, at 367, 113 S. Ct. 2658; *see also Eddings*, *supra*, at 115–116, 102 S. Ct. 869 (“Even the normal 16–year–old customarily lacks the maturity of an adult”). It has been

noted that “adolescents are overrepresented statistically in virtually every category of reckless behavior.” Arnett, *Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective*, 12 *Developmental Rev.* 339 (1992). In recognition of the comparative immaturity and irresponsibility of juveniles, almost every State prohibits those under 18 years of age from voting, serving on juries, or marrying without parental consent.

Roper, 543 U.S. at 569.

Since Roper, courts have continued to extend the principle that children are constitutionally different to adults and are entitled to a different approach in punishment. The United State Supreme Court barred sentences of life without parole for non-homicide offenders who were under 18 at the time of their crimes because, given juveniles’ diminished moral culpability, the punishment lacked “any legitimate penological justification” and there was a national consensus against it. Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 71- 72 (2010). Two years later, the Court held in Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), that that the Eighth Amendment prohibits the mandatory imposition of life without the possibility of parole for juvenile offenders, again because juveniles’ diminished culpability made the punishment disproportionate for all but the rarest juveniles. Recently, in Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190 (2016), the Court held that Miller was a substantive rule of criminal procedure and that it therefore was entitled to retroactive application to cases that were final on direct review at the time Miller was decided, effectively ordering new sentencing proceedings for hundreds of juvenile offenders.

Despite this growing acknowledgement that juveniles require a different methodology an approach to sentencing, South Carolina’ transfer statute has remained firmly rooted in the Kent decision, made in 1966, which improperly tilts the balance in favor of punishing juveniles as adults. States have moved away from the strict framework envisioned under Kent and the earlier treatment of juvenile offenders. For example, Arizona mandates that courts consider, among

other factors, a juvenile's mental and emotional condition. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 8-327 (2019). Idaho requires courts to consider a juvenile's "home, environment, emotional attitude, and pattern of living" in determining the juvenile's maturity. Idaho Code § 20-508(8) (2019). In Wisconsin, courts must look at "the personality of the juvenile, including whether the juvenile has a mental illness or developmental disability, the juvenile's physical and mental maturity, and the juvenile's pattern of living, prior treatment history, and apparent potential for responding to future treatment," an expansion of Kent's simple requirement that a court consider the juvenile's maturity and prospects for rehabilitation. Wis. Stat. § 938.18(5)(a). Particular guidance can be seen in the approach to juvenile sentencing adopted in Washington where sentencing "hearings must therefore be forward looking, focusing on rehabilitation rather than on the past." State v. Haag, 495 P.3d 241, 247 (2021).

The South Carolina waiver statute is intended to serve as a procedural backstop to ensure that children are not treated like adults. See Pittman, 373 S.C. at 558-59, 647 S.E.2d at 160. In practice, however, it fails that purpose because it continues to base waiver decisions on the outdated Kent factors, which disproportionately result in children being treated like adults.

Transferring children and thus exposing them to harsher adult sentences contravenes the rehabilitative goals of the juvenile justice system and diminishes the penological justifications for harsh punishment. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has noted, harsh sentences of a juvenile raise substantial constitutional concerns and courts must "fully explore the impact of the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered." Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 543, 765 S.E.2d 572, 577 (2014). As our Supreme Court noted in Aiken:

'Roper and Graham emphasized that the distinctive attributes of youth diminish the penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes.' Specifically, the Court noted juveniles differ from

adults in their general ‘lack of maturity and [] underdeveloped sense of responsibility,’ ‘vulnerab[ility] ... to negative influences and outside pressures, including family and peers,’ and still evolving character and personality traits.

Aiken, 410 S.C. at 542, 765 S.E.2d at 576 (internal citations omitted).

In place of Kent, appellant would suggest that this Court look towards the Aiken factors themselves as a standard to guide the Family Court transfer decisions. Under Aiken, the Family Court should consider the following factors in determining whether to transfer a youthful offender to General Sessions to be tried as an adult offender:

(1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence; (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender’s participation in the [alleged] conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him; (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender’s inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender’s incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation.

Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (internal quotations omitted) [modifications added].

In light of the substantial and substantive changes in the law and understanding of juvenile development since Kent was decided in 1966, this Court should abandon the continued reliance on the Kent factors as an element of S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1210, reverse appellant’s conviction, and remand the matter to the Family Court for a determination based upon a more balanced examination of what is in the best interest of the public and the minor. This shift in focus would allow the Family Court to properly evaluate whether transfer of appellant as a juvenile for treatment as an adult offender was truly in the best interest of the offender and the public.

II.

The family court erred in finding the right to confront witnesses did not apply in transfer hearings despite the fundamental impact of its ability to transfer a juvenile only after a full investigation in contravention to the Confrontation Clause contained in both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, as well as fundamental procedural due process rights of the minor.

A. How the matter was raised below.

As with Argument I, this matter was submitted on written briefs. At that start of the hearing, the Honorable Greg Seigler acknowledged the filings, and asked both parties if any additional material was to be argued. R. 12, ll. 2 – 24; R. 1020. The procedural defects of the transfer hearing, including the right to confront witnesses was raised and the Family Court specially referenced and denied the motion. R. 12, ll. 2 – 24; R. 1020.

The impact on the present case is most clearly demonstrated by the state's decision to play a recorded interview of Allon Adams during the transfer hearing. Appellant's culpability in the death of SA could not be directly established. Appellant told the police she was unaware her companions, Treveon Nelson and Jaylen Wilson, planned to kill SA. While admitting she was aware they planned to question and assault SA over earlier drive-by shootings of Treveon Nelson's home, and also admitting helping get SA to go with the group from her home, appellant denied any direct involvement with the murder. To counter these statements, the state used Adams. Adams claimed appellant admitted her active role in the murder during his recorded interview, free of any challenge to his credibility since he was not presented as a witness during the hearing. Counsel for appellant renewed her objection under the confrontation clause concerning the use of the Adams interview. R. 185, ll. 14 – 22; 337, ll. 3 – 18.

As it turns out, the state was wise to avoid presenting Adams as a live witness. During trial, he made several outlandish claims, including that he played an active role in assisting Treveon Nelson's assault on appellant on April 27, 2021. R. 2097, ll. 15 – 21. In addition, Adams indicating a supernatural ability to detect SA's murder:

Q. What, if anything, did you feel was going on as far as how you were feeling? Was something off?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Can you explain that?

A. I said like the second or the last day they were there, I woke up that morning. It was like 8:00, 9:00 o'clock and I stepped outside and I felt the atmosphere in the air change. Something felt off. And I said something to them and when I did, they started -- I didn't know what they were thinking, but when I brought it to their attention, they started acting weird. But I had no thought of it. I didn't know somebody was dead –

Q. What did you say?

A. I feel like somebody dead nearby. I feel death. Something feels off. I just know something is dead near me. It just smelled weird and I felt

Q. And what did they say?

A. They didn't really say anything. They started acting funny.

Q. What did they do?

A. They left.

R. 2051, l. 9 – 2052, l. 7.

Adams was the state's star witness on the culpability of appellant in connection with the shooting of SA. Absent Adams' testimony, the state had appellant's statements to police that, while acknowledging involvement, fell well short of a confession for the actual murder.

B. Discussion on the Confrontation Clause challenge.

Appellant's transfer hearing violated her right to confront the witnesses against her in violation of both the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution as well as her due process rights protected by the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, Section 3 of the S.C. Constitution.

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