STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 25 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Lexington County  
The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

NAZARETH N. SANCHEZ-PERALTA,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001588

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. S. RICK HUBBARD, III

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

Appellant was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes on April 27. Whether officers were skeptical of parts of her story is not relevant to the question. The standard for whether a person is in custody does not rely on the belief of the authorities, but on the objectively reasonable belief of the person being interviewed. *See Stansbury v. California*, 511 U.S. 318, 325, 114 S. Ct. 1526, 1530, 128 L. Ed. 2d 293 (1994) ("[A]n officer's views concerning the nature of an interrogation, or beliefs concerning the potential culpability of the individual being questioned, may be one among many factors that bear upon the assessment whether that individual was in custody, but only if the officer's views or beliefs were somehow manifested to the individual under interrogation and would have affected how a reasonable person in that position would perceive his or her freedom to leave."); *see also J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 271, 131 S. Ct. 2394, 2402, 180 L. Ed. 2d 310 (2011) ("By limiting analysis to the objective circumstances of the interrogation, and asking how a reasonable person in the suspect's position would understand his freedom to terminate questioning and leave, the objective test avoids burdening police with the task of

anticipating the idiosyncrasies of every individual suspect and divining how those particular traits affect each person's subjective state of mind.”).

On April 28, 2021, Appellant was given Miranda warnings. She makes much of the fact that she was given *Miranda* warnings “late in the day,” App. Br. 28, but that was because Appellant’s interview *began* late in the day. According to one of the investigators, he administered *Miranda* warnings to Appellant a little more than a half-hour after the interview began. The giving of *Miranda* warnings does not become constitutionally suspect based on the time of day, but based on the totality of circumstances surrounding the statements—of which *elapsed* time (not the point in time) is but one.

Appellant’s main argument here relies on the plurality opinion in *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 124 S. Ct. 2601, 159 L. Ed. 2d 643 (2004), and our supreme court’s opinion in *State v. Navy*, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010). Essentially, Appellant argues that the investigators did the same thing here that they did in *Seibert* and *Navy*: slow-walk her into a confession, then give a *Miranda* warning. But that’s not quite what happened.

There is no doubt that investigators wanted to speak with Appellant. She was the last person to see the victim alive. And her first drafts of the story painted her not as a suspect, but as a witness or a victim. *See Seibert*, 542 U.S. at 620, 124 S. Ct. at 2615 (2004) (Kennedy, J., concurring) (“An officer may not realize that a suspect is in custody and warnings are required.”).

Appellant argues that Detective Carvajal was one of the investigators who spoke to Appellant on both days that she met with officers. But he was never the first interrogator, and the portions of the interviews where he was present were broken up by the presence of other investigators.

There was a clean break between the first day's questioning and the second. Appellant was given the option of whether to come back; she was not held until she confessed, then Mirandized and forced to repeat her confession in successive statements, as was the case in *Seibert* and *Navy*. Officers dealing with a developing situation eventually determined that Appellant could be a suspect—not just as a bystander to the victim's murder, but as participant. As that was becoming clearer, they gave Appellant the appropriate warnings.

Neither Appellant's Due Process rights nor her Fifth Amendment rights were violated by the way that investigators questioned her. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**IV. The trial court properly admitted Appellant's audio messages to Treveon Nelson, because the messages were not meant to prove her propensity for murder and their probative value about the dynamics of Appellant's relationship with Nelson outweighed any unfairly prejudicial effect.**

Appellant contends that the trial court erred by allowing the State to play recordings of sexually explicit messages she sent to Treveon Nelson. But the trial court did commit prejudicial error. The messages were admissible, and even if they were not, any error was harmless.

Under South Carolina law, "evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion" outside of certain exceptions. Rule 404(a), SCRE. One of those exceptions occurs when the defendant offers evidence of her own character, or the State moves to counter that evidence. Rule 404(a)(1). Further, the rules prohibit introduction of "[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts. . . to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." Rule 404(b), SCRE. Again, there are exceptions, including where the evidence is admitted "to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent."

*Id.*

In making sure that these rules are followed, our courts are on guard for “propensity” evidence—evidence that points to “[a] natural tendency to behave in a particular way; esp., the fact that a person is *prone to a specific type of bad behavior.*” PROPENSITY, Black's Law Dictionary (12th ed. 2024). “[E]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible for the purpose of proving the defendant has a propensity to commit the charged crime.” *State v. Galloway*, 443 S.C. 229, 243, 904 S.E.2d 866, 874 (2024). Not all evidence that an individual has done something distasteful, or something that might conflict with the values of segments of society, is prohibited propensity evidence. “Propensity evidence is admissible if offered for some purpose other than to show the accused is a bad person or he acted in conformity with his prior convictions.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Benton*, 338 S.C. 151, 156, 526 S.E.2d 228, 230 (2000)); *see also State v. Heath*, 433 S.C. 506, 514, 860 S.E.2d 673, 677 (Ct. App. 2021) (“Courts must often grapple with disturbing and unpleasant cases, but that does not justify preventing essential evidence from being considered by the jury, which is charged with the solemn duty of acting as the fact-finder.” (quoting *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 535, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014))).

*Galloway* is an example. There, the court held that evidence that a defendant charged with sexually assaulting his girlfriend’s daughter had been violent toward his girlfriend was not improperly admitted by the trial court. *Id.* at 244, 526 S.E.2d at 874.<sup>11</sup> For example, the victim testified that during one fight, the defendant had threatened to kill his girlfriend if her daughter called the police. *Id.* at 243, 526 S.E.2d at 873. Our supreme court explained that the testimony was admissible “because it is clear the State did not elicit the testimony for the purpose of demonstrating Galloway's propensity to be *sexually* violent.” *Id.* at 244, 904 S.E.2d at 874. Instead,

---

<sup>11</sup> The *Galloway* court did find that the trial court should have required the State to explain why the evidence was admissible. *Id.*

the violent episodes were intended to show why it took more than twenty years for the victim to come forward with her allegations.

Or consider *State v. Moorner*, 439 S.C. 525, 888 S.E.2d 725 (Ct. App. 2023). There, this Court found that the trial court properly allowed evidence of the defendant's drug-related text messages, her internet searches for "Cougar Life," and her sexually explicit text messages to a younger man. *Id.* at 541–43, 888 S.E.2d at 733–734. The defendant was charged with kidnapping and conspiracy to kidnap after the disappearance of her husband's mistress. *Id.* at 532, 888 S.E.2d at 728. This Court reasoned that the drug-related messages showed that the defendant was not attempting to get pregnant, which made it more likely the pregnancy test she and her husband purchased was for the husband's mistress. *Id.* at 542, 888 S.E.2d at 733–34. And while the sexual evidence was character evidence, this Court found it relevant because, in part, it showed the defendant's motive for taking part in the crime and her anger at her husband. *Id.* at 543, 888 S.E.2d at 734.

In Appellant's case, the evidence was not intended to show that she had a propensity to kill the victim; it could not do that. Rather, it was used to prove something else logical to the crime with which Appellant was charged—that her relationship with Treveon Nelson was more complicated than that simple story of abuse that Appellant was trying to use in her defense. It undermined her claims that she was acting as Treveon Nelson's victim and her efforts to distance herself from a more active role in the murder—much as the sexually explicit evidence in *Moorner* was relevant because it showed the relationship dynamics between the defendant and her husband and made clear the reasons for her involvement in the kidnapping. *Id.* see also *State v. Williams*, 430 S.C. 136, 149, 844 S.E.2d 57, 64 (2020) ("It is firmly established that otherwise inadmissible

evidence may be properly admitted when opposing counsel opens the door to that evidence.” (quoting *Bowman v. State*, 422 S.C. 19, 40, 809 S.E.2d 232, 243 (2018)).

And Appellant is wrong when she argues that the court did not make any findings on Rule 404. Admittedly, the ruling was brisk, but it identified why the evidence was relevant—because the dynamics of the relationship between Appellant and Treveon Nelson had become an important issue in the trial. As the trial court found, Appellant “has been portrayed as being abused, being a hostage.” (R. p. 2153, ll. 22–23).

Appellant spends less time discussing her challenge under Rule 403, SCRE, but she fares no better with it. Under Rule 403, even relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice[.]” The unfair prejudice is key. See *State v. Heath*, 433 S.C. at 514, 860 S.E.2d at 677 (“[T]he standard is not simply whether the evidence is prejudicial; rather, the standard under Rule 403, SCRE is whether there is a danger of *unfair* prejudice that *substantially* outweighs the probative value of the evidence.” (alterations in original) (quoting *Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 536, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014))). “Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.” *Id.* at 514, 860 S.E.2d at 677 (quoting *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009)).

Here, as the trial court found, the probative value of the evidence in illuminating the relationship between Appellant and Treveon Nelson exceeded whatever danger of unfair prejudice might have been present based on the sexually explicit language used in the messages.

In any event, any error that the trial court made is without a doubt harmless. Jurors heard six days of testimony and arguments. The longest of the exhibits Appellant challenges was 30 seconds long. The total combined runtime of the four exhibits is 45 seconds. Especially in light of

the other evidence introduced against Appellant, the notion that 45 seconds of audio messages swayed the jury during a six-day trial is implausible.

The trial court did not err by admitting the audio messages, and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**V. The trial court did not err in excluding hearsay testimony about an incident between Appellant and Treveon Nelson, because the statement did not meet the standard for the excited utterance exception.**

Appellant concludes her arguments about the trial itself by contending that the trial court should not have excluded hearsay testimony from a police officer about a previous time that Appellant reported physical violence by Treveon Nelson. Even if this were error—and it is not—it is beyond a doubt harmless.

Officer Sinnott's testimony, according to Appellant, should have been admitted under the excited utterance exception to the rule against hearsay. *See* Rule 803(2) (excepting from the rule "[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition"). But the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the testimony.

To fall under the excited utterance exception, a hearsay statement has to meet three requirements. First, it "must relate to a startling event or condition[.]" *State v. Washington*, 379 S.C. 120, 124, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008). Second, "the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement." *Id.* And finally, there has to be a connection between the first two elements—in other words, "the stress of the excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition." *Id.* The statement is viewed as trustworthy because, the thinking goes, a witness is far less able to make up an elaborate story when they are acting spontaneously.

*See State v. Hendricks*, 408 S.C. 525, 531–32, 759 S.E.2d 434, 437 (Ct. App. 2014) (“As our supreme court has explained, ‘the intrinsic reliability of an excited utterance derives from the statement’s spontaneity[,] which is determined by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statement when it was uttered.’” (alterations in original) (quoting *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 119–20, 644 S.E.2d 684, 693 (2007))).

*Hendricks* is a good example. There, this Court confronted an issue of double hearsay. One level was the victim’s statement to her mother that she had been raped. The other level was the victim’s mother repeating that allegation to a 911 operator. *See id.* at 531, 532, 759 S.E.2d at 437, 438. This Court ruled that the first level—the victim’s statement to her mother—clearly satisfied the excited utterance exception, because the victim and her mother both described her devastated emotional state. *See id.* at 532, 759 S.E.2d at 438. But the *Hendricks* Court found the second level of hearsay—where the mother told a 911 operator about her allegations while driving her daughter to the hospital—did not qualify for the exception. *See id.* at 533, 759 S.E.2d at 438.

The reason? “[T]he State has not shown the nature of her reaction”—the mother’s—“was such that it generated the spontaneity that gives an excited utterance its inherent reliability.” *Id.* And that was not all; the court also found the state had not demonstrated that the mother “was still under the required stress of the excitement when she actually made her statement.” *Id.* After all, the mother had helped her daughter put her children to bed, then called 911, and was calm enough to drive her daughter to the hospital. *See id.* at 533–34, 759 S.E.2d at 438–39. Instead of spontaneously reacting to what was happening, the victim’s mother seemed to be motivated by beginning the process of prosecuting her daughter’s alleged rapist. *See id.* at 534, 759 S.E.2d at 439.

The State does not deny that South Carolina’s Supreme Court “has generally allowed as excited utterances statements made by the victim to the police *immediately* following a physical

attack.” *State v. Heath*, 433 S.C. at 516, 860 S.E.2d at 678 (emphasis added). But here, Appellant had some opportunity to calm down from the immediate stress of her encounter with Treveon Nelson. Officer Sinnott estimated it had been about 20 minutes since the encounter when he spoke to her, and she had removed herself from the immediate danger by relocating to the hotel where she called police. *See id.* (“The passage of time between the startling event and the statement is one factor to consider, but it is not the dispositive factor.” (quoting *State v. Stahlnecker*, 386 S.C. 609, 623, 690 S.E.2d 565, 573 (2010))). And despite Appellant’s groundless innuendo about Officer Sinnott’s memory, he testified under oath that he could not recall whether Appellant was visibly upset.

Even if the trial court erred, though, that error was without a doubt harmless. *See Washington*, 379 S.C. at 125–26, 665 S.E.2d at 604–05 (subjecting the errant decision to admit a statement under the excited utterance exception to harmless error analysis). First, there was plenty of evidence in the record about the dynamics of the relationship between Appellant and Treveon Nelson. It is hard to see how a jury that had been exposed to allegations that Treveon Nelson raped Appellant would somehow be more convinced that he was abusive and controlling by hearing that Appellant once said he hit her and waved a gun in front of her. And jurors heard before the State’s objection that Appellant had reported a domestic violence incident of some kind.

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